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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Welcome to the

          3  Committee on Economic Development.  I also am

          4  apologetic to everyone who I have made late or

          5  things of that nature.

          6                 The Council people who are here at

          7  this moment, as it grows, our Council Member from

          8  Brooklyn, Yvette Clarke.  Council Member Tish James,

          9  Council Member Domenic Recchia, and I see we have

         10  been joined by Council Member Felder.

         11                 I am pleased to hold this joint

         12  hearing of the Committee on Economic Development,

         13  and the Committee on Small Business Technology and

         14  Emerging Industries.  The Empire Zone Program,

         15  formally called the Economic Development Zones

         16  Program, was established in 1986 by the New York

         17  State Legislature.

         18                 As most of you know, the Program is

         19  designed to stimulate economic growth in a number of

         20  the states most severely distressed areas by

         21  providing for tax incentives and other forms of

         22  incentives for private businesses that create jobs

         23  and investments within a zone.

         24                 The Program is scheduled to sunset on

         25  July 31st of this year.
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          2                 Most would acknowledge that the

          3  Program has resulted in a increase in jobs.

          4  According to Charles Gargano (phonetic), the

          5  President of the New York State Economic Development

          6  Corporation, the agency that manages the Program,

          7  the Program has helped New York outpace the national

          8  job creation average by eleven percent.

          9                 Nonetheless, few can ignore the fact

         10  that the Program has some shortfalls, some of which

         11  have been highlighted in a recent report by the

         12  Office of the New York State Comptroller.

         13                 Today's hearing is an attempt to give

         14  a forum to those that manage and administer Empire

         15  Zones, including representatives from the state and

         16  city, as well as Zone Coordinators and other

         17  interested parties.  It is hoped that today's

         18  testimony will help to shed light on the challenges

         19  facing the Program, and assist the state in

         20  determining whether or not to extend the Program,

         21  and how to address some of the challenges should

         22  they decide to extend the Program.

         23                 With that, I turn it over to

         24  Councilman Domenic Recchia for his opening remarks.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes, thank
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          2  you, Mr. Sanders. I want to thank you for allowing

          3  the Small Business Committee to have this hearing

          4  with you.

          5                 As we know, Empire Zones are very

          6  important in the development of small businesses

          7  throughout New York City.

          8                 The Small Business Committee is

          9  looking forward to working and seeing how we could

         10  expand them, these Zones, and we are looking forward

         11  to hear the testimony today, to see how this

         12  Committee could help the businesses in our boroughs

         13  expand, even those in the outer boroughs because

         14  that is where these Empire Zones are.  And, that is

         15  very important, that we have to focus on.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  We have decided

         18  to segway into the ZEAs, the Zone Equivalent Areas

         19  first, so we can get this one out of the way first.

         20                 I believe that the Administration is

         21  prepared to, at least, read something into the

         22  record, oh, not prepared to do that. I stand

         23  corrected.  I am going to have to hire you if this

         24  keeps up.

         25                 I believe that we have witnesses who
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          2  will speak on this issue.

          3                 My friends, why don't we speak about

          4  the Empire Zones, and why don't we bring before us

          5  Leah Archibald, and, well, we will take it one at a

          6  time.

          7                 Ms. Archibald, would you be kind

          8  enough to come forward?

          9                 While she is sitting, we have been

         10  joined by Council Member Alan Gerson.

         11                 Good morning.

         12                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Good morning.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I trust your

         14  morning is going better then mine?

         15                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  How is that?  Is that

         16  on?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Oh, that works.

         18                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Oh, all right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If you will

         20  identify yourself for the record, and read your

         21  statement.

         22                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Yes, my name is Leah

         23  Archibald, and I am the Executive Director for the

         24  Southwest Brooklyn Industrial Development

         25  Corporation.
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          2                 The Southwest Brooklyn Industrial

          3  Development Corporation is a local economic

          4  development corporation that serves the businesses

          5  and residents of industrial Southwest Brooklyn. That

          6  is Sunset Park, Gowanus, and Redhook neighborhoods.

          7                 I am here today to discuss the

          8  pending changes in the New York State Empire Zone

          9  Program, and to ask that you work closely with state

         10  officials to ensure continuation of the Program, and

         11  reinstatement of the current level of administrative

         12  funding.

         13                 My organization is the administrator

         14  of the Empire Zone in South Brooklyn.  We market the

         15  Empire Zone Program, and its associated incentives

         16  to the nearly 3,000 businesses in the South Brooklyn

         17  Empire Zone.

         18                 Our staff works with local

         19  businesses, walking them through the certification

         20  process, step by step, helping with the application,

         21  and informing businesses of the different incentives

         22  available to encourage them to grow in the Zone.

         23                 Since our Zone's inception in 1994,

         24  certifying companies have invested over $231 million

         25  into the area, and created or retained over 2,000
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          2  jobs.  These numbers represent literally hundreds of

          3  success stories in our neighborhood.

          4                 Since 9/11, we have had increase of

          5  approximately 700 jobs in our Empire Zone.  For

          6  example, Bendiner & Schlesinger, a medical blood

          7  testing facility, is currently in the process of

          8  relocating to the City- run Brooklyn Army Terminal.

          9  The companies preference for the facility is due to

         10  the availability of various State and City

         11  incentives, including Empire Zone Program.

         12                 This project will retain 150 jobs in

         13  New York State, and bring another 50 new positions

         14  into our community.

         15                 At the same time, Lowe's is putting

         16  300 people to work over the next two years, and has

         17  made investments of over $8 million in its new

         18  facility located in the Gowanus.

         19                 Idea Nuova will be moving 100 new

         20  jobs to its new facility in Red Hook, which is also

         21  inside our Empire Zone.

         22                 Our staff is able to leverage other

         23  city programs to enhance the Empire Zone benefits.

         24  City programs such as REAP have influenced Bendiner

         25  & Schlesinger's decision to move to our Zone, the
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          2  Industrial and Commercial Incentive and Energy cost

          3  Savings Programs have also been used as tools for

          4  the attraction and retention of companies.

          5                 As an administrator of the New York

          6  City In- Place Industrial Park Program, Southwest

          7  Brooklyn is able to address transportation and

          8  sanitation issues that affect the daily activities

          9  of local businesses.

         10                 The Empire Zones serves to complement

         11  these city incentives and is a crucial component of

         12  the comprehensive services that we are able to

         13  provide to local businesses.

         14                 Local administration of the Empire

         15  Zone benefits is crucial for small business people,

         16  as well.  It is difficult for them to take the time

         17  to sift through myriad economic development

         18  incentive programs, and they cannot afford to retain

         19  high paid consultants to do the work for them.

         20                 If Empire Zone funding to

         21  organizations like ours is cut, it will be very

         22  difficult for small businesses to have intermediary

         23  advocates and guides.  They will be unable to avail

         24  themselves of the rich investment programs designed

         25  specifically to encourage investment and expand

                                                            10

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  employment in New York State.

          3                 As you know, these are difficult

          4  economic times for businesses in New York State.

          5  These programs really do function to help small

          6  businesses stay competitive in the global

          7  marketplace. Without organizations, like ours, to

          8  serve as the interface between the public incentive

          9  programs and local businesses, our local economies

         10  will wither.

         11                 Additionally, the Empire Zone Program

         12  is an excellent example of good economic development

         13  policy.  If the firms do not actually grow jobs, or

         14  invest capital, they are not entitled to tax

         15  credits.

         16                 Finally, we think it makes economic

         17  sense to continue the program.  According to the

         18  State's own numbers, the $3.5 million in Empire Zone

         19  administration costs, has leveraged over $3.7

         20  billion in private investment.  We think this is an

         21  economic development program that really pays off,

         22  for large and small businesses alike.

         23            On behalf of the nearly 3,000 small

         24  businesses in Sunset Park, Gowanus, and Red Hook,

         25  and their 40,000 employees, I ask you to work
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          2  closely with New York State elected and appointed

          3  officials to ensure continuation of the Empire Zone

          4  Program statewide.

          5                 Thank you so much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

          7  much, Ms. Archibald.

          8                 I did not hear you, Ms. Archibald,

          9  talk about things that would make it better.

         10                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  My understanding of,

         11  I was asked by the Department of Small Business

         12  Services to testify, and there was another person

         13  paneled and they were asked to speak to that issue.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Okay.

         15                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  But, I can speak off

         16  the cuff

         17  about it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Why not?

         19                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  We think that, we

         20  acknowledge the fact that there are loopholes in the

         21  Program that are not actually creating the amount of

         22  jobs we would like to see.  And, as you probably

         23  know, the local Zones have their own development

         24  policy. Each of the 72 Zones throughout the state

         25  creates its own set of bylaws to most effectively
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          2  operate within the geographic area that we

          3  represent.  Everybody has got different needs.  So,

          4  one of the things that our Zone has done, has

          5  tightened up different components of the application

          6  process, specifically, what is referred to as the

          7  QEZE Benefit.

          8                 We would like to see companies that

          9  are getting tax credits for investment, tie their

         10  investment to real job creation. So, its to that

         11  end, our Zone has tightened up our own application

         12  procedures to require that businesses that are

         13  applying for an investment tax credit, are tying

         14  real jobs to those numbers. Currently, there is a

         15  formula in place where it works out as a percentage,

         16  I am not articulating this particularly well, I

         17  apologize.  Okay, I am tying to be a layman in

         18  speaking real English, and not the alphabet soup of

         19  the economic development programming.  We would like

         20  to see those incentives tied to real job creation,

         21  not this percentage increase of employment, where

         22  you can add one street sweeper, or one floor sweeper

         23  and get your tax benefits for the next decade.  That

         24  is one of the things that the Hevesi Report had a

         25  problem with, and on behalf of our Zone, we have
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          2  taken steps to ensure that when businesses apply for

          3  these credits in our Zone, they are tied to real

          4  jobs.

          5                 So, I think tightening up the QEZE

          6  tax credit is a solid recommendation for improving

          7  the Program.  Let's see, let me ask my staff member

          8  behind me.  What else should I talk about Josh?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Sir, why don't

         10  you come up to the table?  You are now about to

         11  testify.

         12                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  That is why I made

         13  him come today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If you would

         15  speak into that mic, and identify yourself, we will

         16  not swear you in today, Sir.

         17                 MR. KELLER:  Okay, my name is Josh

         18  Keller.  I am the Empire Zone Coordinator in

         19  Southwest Brooklyn.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  All right, she

         21  has a question for you, I believe.

         22                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  What else were we

         23  talking about?

         24                 MR. KELLER:  Maybe just to describe

         25  the QEZE Benefit in a little more detail.
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          2                 The percentage increase currently

          3  allows a company to go from zero to one employee,

          4  and consider that as a one hundred percent increase.

          5    You might want to look at that a little more

          6  carefully because it does allow a tax benefit,

          7  especially on Real Property Taxes for a full decade,

          8  at a 100 percent benefit.

          9                 I do realize that the credits are

         10  tied to investments and just to reiterate, it should

         11  probably also be tied to real job creation at that

         12  amount, and those levels.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Very

         14  interesting, the concept of a higher incentive for

         15  better jobs, quickly goes through my mind as a

         16  possible way of tightening this, since mine is

         17  totally off the cuff, and yours is merely, simply

         18  off the cuff, what would be the down side of

         19  offering a type of staggered credits?

         20                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Well, again, in my

         21  standing off the cuff fashion, I cannot imagine that

         22  there would be a down side.             One thing

         23  that you probably are aware of, is there is a two-

         24  tiered Wage Tax Credit currently, and that gives

         25  preference to, businesses get a higher amount of
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          2  money back if they hire individuals in targeted

          3  areas, and that is folks coming off of public

          4  assistance, or with a certain income level.  So,

          5  there is certainly a precedent for two tiers of Wage

          6  Tax Credit, so, maybe, two tiers, like if you are

          7  going to give a job that pays a certain percentage

          8  of say, the geographic areas median income, at one

          9  level reimburse them a tax credit, and then for

         10  percentages above the median income, give them more.

         11    That would be a way to encourage higher quality

         12  jobs.

         13                 MR. KELLER:  Just a note, the Wage

         14  Tax Credit does operate on a fixed dollar per job

         15  created basis, it is different then the QEZE

         16  Benefits, most of which operate on a percentage

         17  increase.

         18                 It may also be possible to expand the

         19  dollar amount per employee, as on the wage tax

         20  credit, which currently is $1,500 for the standard

         21  credit, and $3,000 for a targeted group.

         22                 You may wish to the expansion of that

         23  if the QEZE Benefits are trimmed.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Understanding

         25  that we have a, and then I am going to see if my
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          2  colleague has anything that he wants to chime in,

          3  understanding that there is a finite amount of

          4  money, how would these things that we speak of

          5  negatively impact on the budget, and could you just

          6  put your mic down just a little.

          7                 How would this negatively impact on

          8  the total amount of money in the budget?

          9                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Are you referring to

         10  the Administrative Funding?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Yes.

         12                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Meaning how much

         13  would--.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  We are talking

         15  about cost.              Would this lead to

         16  additional costs, which would make it prohibitive?

         17                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  I would think that if

         18  the State developed that policy, it probably would

         19  not require too much more documentation then is

         20  currently required.

         21                 So, my semi- off the cuff response

         22  is, it probably would not require a significant

         23  amount more of administration, it is another line on

         24  a form to fill out, don't you think?

         25                 I will use this as an opportunity to
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          2  say, the one danger is what keeps happening to us

          3  year after year is they expand the number of Empire

          4  Zones, and there is currently a proposal to add

          5  another eight but they do not expand the pot of

          6  administrative funding, so, 72 Zones share the same

          7  amount of money that 68 Zones shared, and now there

          8  is going to be 80 Zones, and we are still going to

          9  share that same pot of money.

         10                 Currently, the Empire Zone funds us

         11  for less than one persons salary and benefits.  As

         12  an Executive Director, I have to leverage other

         13  funding streams to, which we get from the City, for

         14  our In- Place Industrial Park Program to get the

         15  work of the Empire Zone done.

         16                 If they were to decrease our funding

         17  significantly more, it would become very difficult

         18  for us to do that because I am obligated to you

         19  guys, as the City, to do the work you ask me to do

         20  on my In- Place Industrial Park Program.

         21                 So, I can tell you, as an

         22  organization, we can do more but we have been

         23  continually asking the State to be mindful of

         24  decreasing our funding, to the point where we are

         25  going to have to say, our staff time is devoted
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          2  elsewhere because of our contractual obligations,

          3  essentially.

          4                 So, that is the long answer to that.

          5  We can do it, but not if they decrease our funding

          6  significantly.

          7                 MR. KELLER:  I just wanted to add one

          8  thing that without the local Administration, the

          9  development policy is just unenforceable because it

         10  is up to the local administrators to make sure that

         11  the right companies, or the companies deemed by the

         12  Zone Board as the companies that are really creating

         13  jobs and good economic development get the benefits.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well put.

         15                 Council Member Gerson, would you

         16  care?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Mr. Chair, as

         18  always, we can count on you to ask the probing and

         19  incisive and important questions as you have with

         20  the issue of what we can do to improve the Program.

         21                 So, I am just going to do, what I am

         22  just going to do is to pursue that a little bit

         23  further, if I may?

         24                 First of all, just, well before that,

         25  Mr. Chair, are we going to have testimony from the
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          2  Administration as to their view on the --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  We will hear a

          4  statement but not testimony.

          5                 I should say that the Administration

          6  has said that there are difficulties in being here

          7  today.  They are stressed at several different

          8  places.

          9                 Since this has never happened before,

         10  we accept it gracefully from them, and we look

         11  forward to continuing this conversation with them on

         12  another day.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  The reason I

         14  ask, and I beg the witnesses indulgence for just one

         15  moment, as you know, we had an unacceptable

         16  situation almost last year at this time, with

         17  respect to the proposed Empire Zone for Chinatown

         18  and the Lower East Side, and under your leadership,

         19  Mr. Chair, this Council approved that, with the

         20  Administrations support, and then as we know, the

         21  state supervising body rejected the application, and

         22  over the objections of the Council, and I believe

         23  the Administration, so I am very eager, if not in

         24  this hearing, at some time in the near future, to

         25  kind of still figure out what went wrong, and how we
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          2  can make up for it at this date, and what changes in

          3  the overall Administration of the Program and

          4  allotment of Empire Zones needed to be made as we

          5  seek the renewal of this important program to ensure

          6  that areas that clearly deserve the program are not

          7  subject to what I call political abuse resulting in

          8  their rejection.

          9                 So, that is something that I was

         10  hoping to be able to pursue, with the Administration

         11  on a, again, I think we are on the same side as the

         12  City Administration here, but I wanted to pursue it

         13  to figure out what we need to do.  But, certainly,

         14  if not in this hearing, in the near future I would

         15  like to do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Allow before

         17  you continue, Sir, to reaffirm the commitment of

         18  this Committee to see that Chinatown is declared an

         19  Empire Zone Area.

         20                 And, indeed, this Council is very,

         21  very firm that the damages caused by 9/11 to

         22  Chinatown has not gone away, and we should do

         23  everything in our power to make this happen.

         24                 May I encourage you, Sir, to consider

         25  seeing if Chinatown could be considered a ZEA,
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          2  remember there was another argument that this

          3  Committee had with the placement of a ZEA in a

          4  certain area, that I will be kind and not mention,

          5  this area used to be a zone of high poverty but has

          6  changed quite dramatically. It may be a worthy idea

          7  of exploring can that designation be moved to where

          8  it is needed?  So, consider.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No, I think

         10  that is a fine idea, I think we will do that.  I

         11  know there has been some discussion about

         12  transferring without having to create an additional

         13  Empire Zone, pursuing the ability to transfer unused

         14  portions of currently designated Empire Zones to the

         15  Chinatown, Lower East Side area, and again, I was

         16  hoping to be able to ask the Administration about

         17  how that mechanism works, and if they would endorse

         18  that but let us together pursue that, and on behalf

         19  of the community I, once again, thank you for your

         20  commitment and leadership.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well,

         22  absolutely, and as a matter of fact, let us pursue

         23  that jointly.  Why don't the two of us go to the

         24  appropriate agency and/or people and speak of what

         25  state ramifications this will have, if we were able
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          2  to transfer these things.  It is a worthy

          3  conversation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, and I

          5  think we should do that.  I think now is the time,

          6  especially if we are considering the renewal of the

          7  law, so again, these are issues which perhaps need,

          8  or certainly need to be considered as we look into

          9  the renewal, and perhaps, warrant change in the

         10  process and the procedure, again, to encourage the

         11  proper allotment, and I think you are idea of

         12  continuing the conversation is well taken.

         13                 I see in the back of the hearing

         14  room, none other then Mr. Manning, who I am sure has

         15  been listening to our dialogue quite intently.  So,

         16  I am sure we can count on him as our ambassador to,

         17  or the Administrations ambassador to us, I should

         18  say, to take this back and set up the appropriate

         19  follow up meeting, so we can pursue these issues in

         20  a timely fashion before the renewal goes to the

         21  state legislation, State Legislature.

         22                 Thank you for your indulgence but

         23  this was very, do you have any thoughts on any of

         24  the above?  Feel free, you have listened to all of

         25  this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  As you

          3  attorney, stay out of that one.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GERSON:  Do not feel

          5  obliged.

          6                 Well, okay, QEZE Benefits, how does

          7  that currently work, and what were you suggesting?

          8                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Yes, I am going to

          9  let Josh speak to that because that is the alphabet

         10  soup portion.

         11                 MR. KELLER:  Okay, QEZE qualified

         12  Empire Zone Enterprise Benefits, there are three of

         13  them.

         14                 The one that we are most focused on

         15  is called, The Real Property Tax Credit.  It is

         16  based on three variables in an equation that they

         17  multiply together.  The first being a percentage

         18  increase in employment.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I am sorry,

         20  could you speak into the mic?

         21                 MR. KELLER:  The first being

         22  percentage increase in employment, multiplied then

         23  by the amount of Real Property Tax paid to New York

         24  City, multiplied by a constant that they set for ten

         25  years, which is equal to 100 percent in years one
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          2  through ten.  In years eleven through fourteen, it

          3  is a fourteen year credit.  There is a phase out

          4  each year of twenty percent.  So, in the first ten

          5  years, if you have a hundred percent increase in

          6  your employment, you multiply that by the amount of

          7  tax you pay to the City, and multiply it again by

          8  100 percent, and that equals the total savings.  In

          9  other words, 100 percent of the property tax for the

         10  entity.  That is the QEZE Real Property Tax Credit,

         11  and how it is calculated.  Usually it is for the

         12  entity that holds title to a property, not usually,

         13  always, it is for the entity that holds title to a

         14  property, which in most cases and LLC or holding

         15  corporation, and not an operating company.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In your

         17  suggestion, rather then look at the strict

         18  percentage, so zero to one would be 100 percent that

         19  we adjust the formula to take account of actual

         20  numbers, so, zero to one does not get 100 percent

         21  abatement, necessarily, unless they meet other

         22  criteria but, I mean, is that what you are

         23  suggesting?

         24                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Yes.

         25                 MR. KELLER:  Pretty much along those
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          2  lines, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  All right,

          4  well, I think that is a very fine suggestion and

          5  just in terms of the geographic area within your

          6  Empire Zone, are you at capacity, are you in an

          7  expansion mode, or how --

          8                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  We are at current

          9  capacity for our Zone Acreage right now.  So, we

         10  have none to give away, unless we take.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That is not

         12  why I was asking.

         13                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  No, but, I am

         14  throwing it out there because it is something to

         15  think about if finding acreage for Chinatown is a

         16  priority, but I know there are other Empire Zones

         17  that probably do have acreage, that is not

         18  completely assigned that we could likely draw from.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  All right.

         20  One last question, Mr. Chair, then I am done.

         21                 Do you have any thoughts as to the

         22  formula and the requirements for drawing the

         23  boundaries used for drawing the boundaries on the

         24  Zones?

         25                 I know when we, I see you are
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          2  smiling, when we went through this exercise in

          3  futility last year, to create the Chinatown, Lower

          4  East Side Zone, we had to take pains to make sure we

          5  had a proper amount of open space, adequate

          6  continuity, and of course, in meeting the poverty

          7  threshold requirements, do these formula, from your

          8  experience, work?  Do they need to be tweaked? Do

          9  they need to be changed?  Any suggestions on the

         10  formula for boundary creations?

         11                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  I have what I will

         12  refer to as the "armchair quarterback" theory on

         13  that.  That could probably be tightened up,

         14  although, as Monday morning quarterback, I do not

         15  necessarily have any solid recommendations.

         16                 One of the major criticisms of the

         17  Program, and it accounts for a lot of the bad press

         18  that the Program has gotten, is other Zones, I mean

         19  not the Downstate Zones, but other Zones throughout

         20  the state have not really followed this policy very

         21  closely and have resulted in atomizing the Empire

         22  Zones, and not really taking a comprehensive look at

         23  economic development in a community, or a city, or

         24  an area, and they have kind of divided the acreage

         25  as spoils of war, and it is one of the things that
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          2  has, that people have criticized the Program for,

          3  and so, I think it is certainly a fine

          4  recommendation to be looking at these requirements,

          5  not just for our sake Downstate, but to tighten up

          6  requirements for the Program statewide.  And, it

          7  will create a stronger Program, that is less likely

          8  to be assailed in the public eye.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Fine

         10  suggestions.  Mr. Chair, I thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you.  We

         12  have been joined by Council Member Sara Gonzalez of

         13  Brooklyn.

         14                 Even as my colleagues decide if they

         15  want to raise a question to these good people, let

         16  me put a, the context here again, remember that they

         17  were invited to speak and I press them to give me

         18  concepts that may improve.

         19                 Had they another day or two to think

         20  of these things, they may have shaped it

         21  differently, or perhaps said it differently but the

         22  Chair must be blamed if there is a blame for putting

         23  them in a position where they were stating things

         24  without the advantage of more thought.

         25                 We certainly appreciate, and the
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          2  ideas and concepts that you have come up with, I

          3  believe, would make a stronger program.

          4                 Having said that, is there anything

          5  further that any of my colleagues want to question?

          6                 Council Member Gonzalez.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  It is not a

          8  question.

          9                 I just want to say, "Hi", and I

         10  apologize for being late but you guys are very

         11  important in my community of Sunset Park, actually

         12  District 38, and I just, again, want to say what I

         13  have always said to you Leah, that industry is very

         14  important, as long as there is a balance between

         15  industry and residential.

         16                 So, I truly support you guys.

         17                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  Thank you, so much.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  Okay, thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 Council Member Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair.  I just wanted to ask a different spin on

         25  the question that Council Member Sanders raised.
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          2                 My question to you is, in the years

          3  that you have been operating the Zone, what would

          4  you count as your successes? In terms of your

          5  expectation of what the businesses would bring when

          6  they first came up on board to receive, what are the

          7  benefits?

          8                 What would you say are your successes

          9  in that regard?

         10                 I think one of things that our

         11  communities want to know is that indeed the mandate

         12  that has been set forth for these Zones, are being

         13  met or exceeded, so, could you give us a sense of

         14  that?

         15                 MS. ARCHIBALD:  I will gladly answer

         16  that.

         17                 I think the greatest success of the

         18  Empire Zone, that our organization administers is

         19  its ability to create real jobs.

         20                 I can, and I think that the aggregate

         21  information is a very stark indicator of the success

         22  of the Program.  Even just over the course of the

         23  past few years.  The number of jobs in the Empire

         24  Zone that we serve, has grown monumentally.

         25                 I will take Sunset Park as a specific
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          2  example, and I am just going to speak in recent

          3  years because those are the Department of Labor

          4  numbers that I carry around in my head.

          5                 In 2000, in the first quarter of

          6  2000, there were 23,000 employees in Sunset Park,

          7  and in the first quarter of last year, there were

          8  33,000 employees in Sunset Park.  That is an amazing

          9  growth in the number of jobs.  And, that is really

         10  just, I mean, that is the biggest piece of the

         11  Empire Zone but we still have Gowanus and Red Hook

         12  that are showing huge growth in employment, as well.

         13                 I think that the Empire Zone

         14  Programs' ability to serve as a keystone Economic

         15  Development Program to market to businesses that are

         16  not just coming into our neighborhood, but already

         17  in our neighborhood and growing.

         18                 One of the things that we face

         19  Downstate that the other Zones do not have to deal

         20  with, is the fact that, we are competitive with New

         21  Jersey and that is a really difficult row to hoe.

         22  They have much cheaper land.  The state of New

         23  Jersey is throwing money at these companies, and

         24  they have got these green fields where you can

         25  develop 250,000 square foot, one- floor facilities
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          2  that are very appealing to manufacturers, and the

          3  fact that our industrial park is at 95 percent

          4  occupancy and our job growth is 40 percent over the

          5  course of the past few years is a monumental

          6  testament to the strength of this Program, combined

          7  with the other programs that we administer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you,

          9  Council member.

         10                 I want to thank the panel for coming

         11  out, thank you for, was this your first testimony,

         12  Sir?

         13                 MR. KELLER:  It was

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I will not be

         15  your last.  You did well.  Thank this panel for

         16  coming up.

         17                 MR. ARCHIBALD:  Thank you so much for

         18  having us.

         19                 MR. KELLER:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  We are going to

         21  hear from George Glatter from the Department of

         22  Business Services, and of course, he has a

         23  statement, I believe, that he is going to read into

         24  the record.

         25                 Good to see you again, Sir.
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          2                 MR. GLATTER:  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Once you are

          5  ready, if you will identify yourself for the record,

          6  then begin.

          7                 MR. GLATTER:  Okay, I am George

          8  Glatter, Assistant Commissioner at the Department of

          9  Small Business Services, and I am going to read a

         10  statement.

         11                 Good morning Chairman Sanders, and

         12  members of the Economic Development Committee.

         13                 I am George Glatter, Assistant

         14  Commissioner for Neighborhood Development at the

         15  Department of Small Business Services.  Thank you

         16  for the opportunity to provide a statement regarding

         17  the Empire Zones Program.

         18                 One of the key components of New York

         19  City's economic development strategy has been

         20  providing programs and incentives that help maintain

         21  and attract businesses to different areas of the

         22  City.  The City, through the Department of Small

         23  Business Services, is committed to assisting small

         24  businesses and revitalizing industrial and

         25  commercial neighborhoods.
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          2                 Created by New York State in 1986,

          3  the Empire Zones Program seeks to stimulate private

          4  investment, business development, and job creation

          5  in the State's most severely distressed areas.

          6  These areas are most commonly characterized by long-

          7  term unemployment, and pervasive poverty.  There are

          8  currently ten Empire Zones in New York City, with at

          9  least one in every borough.

         10                 We greatly appreciate the support the

         11  Council has given the Program with the designation

         12  of the West Shore Zone on Staten Island in 2002, the

         13  designation of additional acreage in Zones in South

         14  Jamaica in Queens, and the North Shore of Staten

         15  Island, also in 2002, and the designation of

         16  additional acreage in the East Brooklyn and East

         17  Harlem Zones last year.

         18                 Businesses within a Zone are eligible

         19  to receive a host of financial incentives such as

         20  Wage Tax Credits, Real Property Tax Credits, a State

         21  Sales Tax Exemption and Investment Tax Credits.

         22                 Over 1,300 retail, service and

         23  industrial businesses across the City have been

         24  certified by the State and are eligible to receive

         25  these benefits.  In Fiscal Year 2002, these benefits
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          2  helped companies create 2,200 jobs.

          3                 Additionally, each Empire Zone

          4  retains a loan fund that allows businesses to borrow

          5  funds at a lower than market rate to encourage

          6  business development and expansion.

          7                 As New York State's Empire Zone

          8  program is due to sunset this year, the State

          9  Legislature is expected to consider an extension to

         10  the program and possible changes.  The Department of

         11  Small Business Services, in conjunction with the

         12  City's Economic Development Corporation, and the

         13  City's Office of State Legislative Affairs, is

         14  reviewing the Program in order to suggest

         15  modifications to make the Program more accessible to

         16  businesses choosing to locate within a New York City

         17  Empire Zone.

         18                 First and foremost is the overall

         19  importance of ensuring that the Program is extended

         20  with the existing incentives. Beyond an extension,

         21  we have noted certain provisions of the law that

         22  might be modified to make Empire Zone benefits more

         23  accessible for businesses in New York City.  These

         24  changes involve the employment test used for

         25  Qualified Empire Zone Benefits, QEZE, refundability
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          2  of tax credits, the Investment Tax Credit, Zone

          3  Capital Credits, and administrative governance for

          4  unused Zone acreage.  I will detail these proposed

          5  modifications.

          6                 QEZE:  In order to receive "QEZE

          7  Benefits", which consist of a sales Tax Exemption,

          8  the Real Property Tax Credit, and the Tax Reduction

          9  Credit, a business relocating to an Empire Zone must

         10  prove, among other things, that its employment in

         11  the State, excluding the Zone, before relocation was

         12  at least equal to its employment in the State,

         13  again, excluding the Zone, after such relocation.

         14                 As a result, if a single- location

         15  business operating in the State is considering

         16  relocating to another sate, but could be persuaded

         17  to stay in the State by QEZE Benefits, such benefits

         18  would not be available because its employment in the

         19  State outside of the Zone would drop in connection

         20  with its relocation to the Zone.

         21                 Though potentially challenging for

         22  any business in the State, the problem is

         23  particularly acute in the City.  This is because:

         24  (a) many businesses interested in locating in Zones

         25  in the City are manufacturing with very thin margin
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          2  and, would not be willing or able to remain in the

          3  City without the Programs benefits;  and second, the

          4  City is located so close to low cost alternatives,

          5  for example, New Jersey and Pennsylvania, that also

          6  have programs offering benefits similar to those

          7  offered under the Program.

          8                 We would like to replace the existing

          9  and various employment tests for QEZE Benefits with

         10  that of the original Wage Tax Employment Test,

         11  whereby, average numbers of employees in the State,

         12  including Zones, pre- and post- relocation are

         13  compared.

         14                 Next, refundability.  The tax credits

         15  are not valuable to businesses with small or no tax

         16  liability, unless they are refundable.  Several

         17  Program credits are only partially refundable, and

         18  then, only if businesses are new to the State.

         19  Because so many of the businesses seeking to take

         20  advantage of the Program's credits in the City are

         21  either manufacturers with thin margins or start- ups

         22  with losses, this problem also impacts the City more

         23  severely.

         24                 We suggest that the Wage Tax Credit,

         25  Investment Tax Credit and Employment Tax Credit,
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          2  which are now only partially refundable, be fully-

          3  refundable.

          4                 The Qualifying Investment Tax Credit

          5  or ITC:  The Program's IRC allows Zone businesses to

          6  take tax credits in respect to tangible, depreciable

          7  property purchased by them.  However, in the City,

          8  many businesses located in Zones, including, in

          9  particular, service businesses, lease or license

         10  important assets, and when they do make purchases,

         11  purchase intangible assets such as software and

         12  insurance.

         13                 We suggest that the ITC be expanded

         14  to allow businesses to take credits in respect to

         15  certain leased or licensed assets, and in respect to

         16  certain intangible assets.

         17                 The Zone Capital Credits:  The

         18  Program offers a 25 percent tax credit against State

         19  franchise taxes or personal income taxes for direct

         20  equity investments in EZ- certified businesses, cash

         21  contributions to approved community development

         22  projects; and qualified investments in, or

         23  contributions to, Zone Capital Corporations.  Each

         24  Zone is allocated $2.5 million of Zone Capital

         25  Credits for the life of that Zone.  Each Zone
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          2  Administrative Board determines how the allocation

          3  is distributed among the three categories described

          4  above, but limits the amount claimed by individual

          5  investors.

          6                 Our suggestion is to increase the

          7  maximum caps, especially the investor caps and the

          8   "per category caps" available for the capital

          9  credits.

         10                 Movement of Zone Acreage:  Upstate

         11  Zones are typically administered on a region- wide

         12  basis and viewed as resources for the entirety of

         13  these regions.  Thus, even when Upstate Zone acreage

         14  is distributed region- wide, it will usually be

         15  viewed as being locally administered.

         16                 In the City, however, Zones are

         17  typically administered on a neighborhood- wide basis

         18  and viewed as a neighborhood resource.

         19                 We would seek a change to allow the

         20  City to appropriate undesignated Zone acreage from

         21  New York City Zones, and then to aggregate this

         22  undesignated acreage into a new Zone or Zones with

         23  its own administrative board.  Ideally, following

         24  the creation of such a Zone, it would also receive a

         25  separate appropriation of funds from the State to
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          2  allow for proper administration of the Zone.

          3                 It is our hope that the Empire Zone

          4  program will continue to offer opportunities to

          5  disadvantaged areas of the City, and be improved

          6  through appropriate modification, and we thank you

          7  for your support.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Glatter.  I believe that you have been

         10  instructed to read into the record this testimony.

         11                 I will encourage my colleagues that

         12  we have absolute access to this DBS on another day,

         13  and that we can pursue this matter in far more

         14  detail.

         15                 You wanted to say something.

         16                 MR. GLATTER:  Absolutely, we will be

         17  as cooperative as we can, and in the meanwhile, if

         18  you want to submit any written questions, I will be

         19  glad to take them back now or at any time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  There are

         21  questions, of course, that the Committee has, and we

         22  look forward to those being answered, and I

         23  encourage my colleagues that he is only able to, at

         24  best, able to answer the most general of questions.

         25                 I do see, perhaps, there are comments
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          2  especially. Comments might be far more useful than

          3  questions.

          4                 Council Member Tish James.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Good morning,

          6  Commissioner.

          7                 Your recommendations I support

          8  wholly, particularly the comparison and the use of

          9  the Wage Tax Credit employment, and I will be

         10  speaking to my state elected official, who I work

         11  very closely with, Assemblyman Roger Green, to

         12  support you on these recommendations.  And, the

         13  recommendation with regards to allowing the City to

         14  appropriate undesignated Zone acreage, I am not sure

         15  if I understand it, and I want to know whether it

         16  applies in the following scenario.

         17                 I have in my district, a pocket of

         18  poverty which cannot be designated, part of my

         19  district cannot be designated as a Zone because it

         20  is just a small pocket, and if you look at the AMI

         21  of the entire district because it is closely

         22  located, or in close proximity to brownstones, which

         23  are now worth over $1 million, we do not qualify.

         24  But, the pocket of poverty is three public housing

         25  developments, where there is 70 percent
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          2  unemployment, and the AMI, I believe is at least 200

          3  percent below the poverty level.  And so, the

          4  question is whether or not your recommendation as it

          5  relates to appropriating undesignated Zone acreage

          6  from City Zone, and then aggregating it to

          7  undesignated acreage, is this something that we can

          8  work on to perhaps use some of this undesignated

          9  Zone to some of these pockets were they cannot on

         10  their own qualify for an Empire Zone?

         11                 Does that make sense, my question?

         12                 MR. GLATTER:  Yes, but, I do not have

         13  the answer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

         15                 MR. GLATTER:  But, I will have you

         16  contacted.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I am sorry,

         18  okay, it something that I would like to pursue.

         19                 MR. GLATTER:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If you would be

         21  kind enough to respond to the Council member on

         22  another day, let me also go a step further, that

         23  same scenario would be true, can be true for a

         24  Chinatown or some variation of that, so this is the

         25  scenario that we would like to hear a response by
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          2  the Administration.

          3                 MR. GLATTER:  Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Are there any

          5  more comments or concerns that we want to address

          6  with Mr. Glatter.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Council member

          8  Clarke correctly described it, it is called Zone

          9  gerrymandering, that is what I would like to see

         10  happen.  She is absolutely correct, and it is

         11  brilliant.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  No, no, we do

         13  not prefer to see it as Zone gerrymandering, we

         14  prefer to see it as Zone corrections, we would never

         15  gerryman, but we absolutely will correct the

         16  problems of New York City.

         17                 Are there any other concerns or

         18  things that we want him to take back?

         19                 Council member.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Just since we

         21  have the witness, or the representative here in the

         22  seat, if you will, I just want to just reiterate my

         23  request that we follow up with conversation both

         24  specifically to the Chinatown, Lower East Side

         25  issue, I will not go through it again since you were
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          2  all here when I discussed it earlier, and also, more

          3  broadly, what changes we need to make in the process

          4  to ensure that that type of travesty does not happen

          5  again.

          6                 So, I will look forward to the follow

          7  up conversations on that, and again, Mr. Chair, I

          8  thank you for your leadership.

          9                 I thank the Administration for

         10  working with us together on this one.

         11                 MR. GLATTER:  Thank you, Councilman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

         13  much, Sir.  You survived it.

         14                 We will call our next witnesses.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Will

         16  Bettina Demiani come forward?

         17                 Is Josephine Oduro here, are you

         18  going to testify? You can come up, as well.

         19                 We will start with Ms. Damiani, and

         20  then, yes, would you like to come up as well now?

         21                 Is Tony Bechel here?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  He was here.

         23                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  He was

         24  here, okay, well, why don't you two go, and next we

         25  will have Anthony Zuretti (phonetic).
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          2                 Ms. Damiani are you ready?

          3                 MS. DAMIANI:  Thank you.  Thank you

          4  Chairman Sanders, and Recchia, and Council members

          5  for the invitation to speak before you today.

          6                 My name is Bettina Damiani, Director

          7  of Good Jobs New York, a joint project of the Fiscal

          8  Policy Institute with offices in Albany and New York

          9  City, and Good Jobs First, based in Washington, D.

         10  C.

         11                 Good Jobs New York promotes

         12  accountability to taxpayers in the use of economic

         13  development subsidies.  Our website contains the

         14  only publicly available database of the City's large

         15  corporate "retention" deals, and in February we

         16  released a report "Know When to Fold`Em: Time to

         17  Walk Away from New York City's`Corporate Retention'

         18  Game", detailing the failure of commercial retention

         19  agreements negotiated by the IDA in the 1990's to

         20  produce job growth.

         21                 In light of comptroller Hevesi's

         22  analysis of the Empire Zone Program released last

         23  month, years of deteriorating standards, and the

         24  possible sun- setting of the Program and the failure

         25  of the state to designate Chinatown as an Empire
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          2  Zone, New York State's Empire Zone Program, and its

          3  impact on our local workforce deserves a closer

          4  look.

          5                 The City's efforts last year to bring

          6  an Empire Zone to Chinatown was made with good

          7  intentions since that community's economy had been

          8  hit hard by the attacks of 9/11 and of its close

          9  proximity to the World Trade Center.  However, as

         10  the State Comptroller's report reveals, simply

         11  earmarking an area as an Empire Zone is not a magic

         12  wand for workers or taxpayers.

         13                 Neither, however, are the City's

         14  discretionary corporate retention programs.  Good

         15  Jobs New York praises the Committee for holding this

         16  hearing, but encourages the City Council to

         17  undertake a careful review of how City tax dollars

         18  have been allocated and foregone in the name of

         19  corporate retention, attraction and job growth.

         20                 Our research shows that the annual

         21  report given to this Council, known as the Local Law

         22  69, has discrepancy and accountability problems

         23  similar to those that plague the Empire Zone

         24  Program.

         25                 As the budget season moves into high
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          2  gear with the release of the Mayor's budget, an

          3  exact tally of who gets tax breaks, and why, could

          4  not be a more pressing concern for this Committee.

          5                 Last year, Good Jobs First released a

          6  report in which New York State received a starring

          7  role.  The report, "Straying from Good Intentions:

          8  How States are Weakening Enterprise Zones and Tax

          9  Increment Financing Programs".  New York State is

         10  one of eleven states that have undercut the

         11  targeting of their Enterprise Zone Programs.

         12                 Even though New York has not

         13  instituted Empire Zones across the state, like

         14  Arkansas, Kansas and South Carolina essentially

         15  have, the dramatic increase in the number of Zones

         16  and their questionable impact on job creation has

         17  drawn national attention.  In particular, increasing

         18  the size of the Zone from one to two square miles,

         19  and the inclusion of "nearby or continuous" parcels

         20  have benefited banks and law firms over low- income

         21  residents in many areas of the state.

         22                 There is little doubt that New York

         23  City needs more good jobs, and that residents need

         24  to be able to find work that pays family- sustaining

         25  wages with adequate benefits.           Unfortunately
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          2  , New York City and State have a less than

          3  flattering track record when it comes to allocating

          4  taxpayer dollars to corporations to secure job

          5  creation.  The Empire Zone Program, even with the

          6  legislation recently proposed by Governor Pataki to

          7   "improve accountability" is no exception.

          8                 Failures of the Empire Zone Program

          9  include:

         10                 Losing its mission:  This program has

         11  consistently failed to create jobs in New York.

         12  Despite what its original intent in 1986 might have

         13  been, Empire Zones have seemingly catered to

         14  specific companies rather than the needs of

         15  unemployed New Yorkers.  In 2000, changes to the

         16  program allowed, for example, boundaries to be

         17  extended to cover areas such as suburban office

         18  parks.

         19                 Lack of Accountability:  The lack of

         20  accountability in the Empire Zone Program is

         21  inexcusable.  Comptroller Hevesi's report on Empire

         22  Zones affirms many of the same failures of the

         23  City's corporate retention programs, including lack

         24  of due diligence to learn if a subsidy is necessary

         25  to lure a company to a certain area; failure of
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          2  companies to create the jobs initially promised;

          3  inability to discern the quality of jobs being

          4  created and the lack of independently verifiable

          5  information.

          6                 These misuses of the program have

          7  been able to escape public scrutiny because details

          8  on the number and types of jobs created are not made

          9  public on a continuing, firm specific basis.

         10                 How to Create the Good Jobs that New

         11  York City Deserves:  The Governor's proposed changes

         12  to the Empire Zone Program claim to "improve

         13  accountability, focus benefits on communities and

         14  neighborhoods that need it most, and provide

         15  flexibility to target projects with large job

         16  creation potential, all while preserving local

         17  decision- making authority".

         18                 A closer look at the proposed

         19  changes, however, reveal that many of them actually

         20  further weaken the Program's targeting, allowing

         21  companies in wealthier areas to benefit from tax

         22  breaks that would otherwise go to fund vital social

         23  programs.           As a result, even if the

         24  Governor's proposed changes were implemented, the

         25  program would do little to create good jobs.
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          2                 The proposed changes would also allow

          3  the Commissioner of Economic Development to create

          4  up to one square mile of "flex zones" anywhere in

          5  the state each year, regardless of the level of

          6  economic distress.  The weakened targeting is likely

          7  to worsen an already problematic provision under

          8  which a company can be designated as a Zone if it is

          9  in a metropolitan area that has "experienced or is

         10  likely to experience within three years" one of

         11  several types of sudden and severe economic

         12  disruptions. Because of the vague, subjective and

         13  prospective nature of this provision, it makes the

         14  program ripe for abuse.

         15                 In light of these problems, extending

         16  the Empire Zone Program in either its current or

         17  proposed form would do little to alleviate the

         18  economic development problems faced by low- income

         19  residents in New York City.

         20                 We urge the Council to consider

         21  pushing for improvements to City- controlled,

         22  discretionary economic development programs, rather

         23  than advocating for additional or expanded Empire

         24  Zones.

         25                 Whether in the context of

                                                            50

          1  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  discretionary programs or an amended Empire Zone

          3  program, any responsible development plan must

          4  address the following concerns:

          5                 Clear job creation requirements:  The

          6  program should set clear goals for job growth,

          7  require regularly, publicly available reports on

          8  progress, and terminate benefits for companies that

          9  fail to grow jobs.  Jobs should be targeted to area

         10  residents, particularly low- income and unemployed

         11  residents.

         12                 Focus on economically distressed

         13  areas:  As stated in Good Jobs First's report, New

         14  York State has moved away from its original anti-

         15  poverty focus.  Incentives should be offered on the

         16  premise that they will induce a reduction in

         17  economic distress, and their success should be

         18  measured against their impact on poverty and

         19  unemployment rates.

         20                 Filters to screen for "bottom-

         21  feeders":  Companies that violate health, safety,

         22  environmental, or labor laws should be barred from

         23  eligibility for subsidy programs.  These violations

         24  not only hurt workers and residents, they hurt the

         25  tax base, as well as requiring costly
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          2  investigations.

          3                 Programs that focus on improving

          4  economically distressed areas must be particularly

          5  mindful of environmental justice concerns, since

          6  polluters tend to locate in low- income

          7  neighborhoods and communities of color.

          8                 Job quality standards:  Currently,

          9  companies receiving the full tax credit benefit

         10  within the Empire Zone Program must pay a wage of

         11  $6.95 an hour.  By including a standard at all, New

         12  York State is participating in a healthy, growing

         13  trend of government insisting on a better return on

         14  its investment in job growth.

         15                 However, the standard is still too

         16  low and covers only a small portion of the program

         17  benefits.  Subsidized companies should pay wages and

         18  benefits that allow employees to live without

         19  resorting to the "hidden subsidy" of taxpayer funded

         20  public assistance programs.

         21                 How we can have economic development

         22  programs address opportunities in Lower Manhattan:

         23  Opportunities for improving New York City's

         24  economically distressed neighborhoods exist,

         25  regardless of the fate of the Empire Zone Program.
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          2  Possibilities for Chinatown, for example, include a

          3  proposal for a protected facility for high- end

          4  apparel called "The New York Fashion Space".  This

          5  project, currently under consideration by the LMDC,

          6  would create jobs and job training programs in a

          7  sector that was particularly hard hit after the

          8  attacks of September 11th.

          9                 We encourage that yesterday's hearing

         10  on Fighting Unemployment in New York City that some

         11  Council members would like to see post- 9/11

         12  Community Development Block Grants used for economic

         13  development strategies that focus on putting people

         14  to work.  The unemployment crisis, faced especially

         15  by Black and Latino communities, demands that each

         16  dollar spent on economic development helps create

         17  decent- paying jobs.  The Liberty Jobs plan

         18  considered by the Council at yesterday's hearing

         19  would use these funds controlled by the LMDC to

         20  create jobs that address community priorities such

         21  as affordable housing, job training, public

         22  amenities such as parks and schools, and publicly

         23  accessible arts and cultural spaces.  The Council's

         24  assistance in promoting this plan, as opposed to

         25  plans for using the funds on a small down payment on
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          2  a rail link to JFK and Long Island, could go a long

          3  way to promoting an improved development policy

          4  citywide.

          5                 Finally, state legislators including

          6  Assembly Member Brodsky and Senator Krueger have

          7  proposed reforms to the Empire Zone Program by

          8  tightening the reins to make it more accountable or

          9  by calling for a moratorium all together.  With the

         10  concerns of these state legislators, the New York

         11  State Comptroller and advocacy organizations like

         12  ours, we ask the City Council to take cautionary

         13  steps as they consider the role of Empire Zones in

         14  our city.

         15                 Thank you for consideration of our

         16  testimony.

         17                 MS. ODURO:  Good morning.  I am

         18  Josephine Oduro, a Client Manager at New York

         19  Industrial Retention Network, speaking today on

         20  behalf of our Executive Director, Adam Friedman.

         21                 We would like to thank the City

         22  Council for holding a hearing on the Empire Zones

         23  Program.

         24                 I handle real estate assistance for

         25  NYIRN, and I work with approximately 200 companies
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          2  each year.  The Empire Zone Program is one of the

          3  most significant programs available for retaining

          4  and attracting manufacturing businesses to New York

          5  City. Given that the crux of the program is to spur

          6  economic activity in distressed areas by encouraging

          7  private investment, efforts should be taken to

          8  ensure that the Program will maintain its

          9  credibility and accessibility to eligible

         10  businesses.

         11                 In order to really maximize the

         12  effectiveness of the Program, I believe that more

         13  aggressive steps should be taken to fund marketing

         14  at the local administrative level.  The Empire Zones

         15  Program has been very successful at attracting and

         16  retaining manufacturing and wholesale distribution

         17  firms within New York City.  Some companies that I

         18  work with will only relocate their operations to

         19  properties that are located within one of the City's

         20  ten Zoned areas.

         21                 These companies are aware that the

         22  benefits available provide them with a better chance

         23  of competing in New York City's market.  However,

         24  this knowledge is not widespread among local

         25  businesses.  There have been numerous instances in
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          2  which I have worked with a manufacturer on an

          3  unrelated business issue, and have discovered that

          4  the company is located in one of the Zoned areas and

          5  not claiming the credits.  A significant number of

          6  businesses operate for a number of years unaware of

          7  either the existence of the Program or how to access

          8  the benefits.

          9                 For the large part, most of these

         10  companies happen to be small businesses employing

         11  less than ten people.

         12                 There are also cases in which

         13  companies are aware of the Program, but have been

         14  improperly informed of what benefits are actually

         15  available to them.

         16                 I once worked with a printing company

         17  that had relocated 80 jobs into an Empire Zone.  The

         18  company was led to understand that they would

         19  receive all of the Empire Zone Benefits once they

         20  became certified.  However, after the move, the firm

         21  was notified that they were not eligible to receive

         22  the QEZE Benefits, Qualified Empire Zone Enterprise

         23  Benefits, because their relocation consisted of a

         24  move from a non- Zone area into a Zone. QEZE

         25  benefits are available to firms that either relocate
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          2  from outside of the state or from one Empire Zone to

          3  another.  The company was able to access some of the

          4  Zone benefits, however, the benefits which they were

          5  ineligible for were the ones that actually attracted

          6  them to the Zone in the first place.  That is why

          7  funding for Empire Zone marketing is so important.

          8                 There are many factors which

          9  contribute to making it increasingly difficult for

         10  manufacturing firms to compete in New York City,

         11  including inflated rental prices in Empire Zones.

         12  Some landlords, who own industrial space in the

         13  Empire Zones, purposely increase their rental prices

         14  knowing that the tax incentives will decrease other

         15  costs to business located in the zone.

         16                 In addition, re- zonings, and legal

         17  and illegal conversions in some designated areas all

         18  threaten the effectiveness of the Empire Zone

         19  Program.

         20                 For example, at least 26 industrial

         21  buildings inside the East Williamsburg Industrial

         22  Park have been illegally converted, removing

         23  approximately 500,000 square feet of industrial

         24  space which could have housed anywhere from 1,000 to

         25  2,500 jobs.
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          2                 To conclude, the Empire Zones Program

          3  plays a crucial role in retaining manufacturing

          4  companies in New York City. Recognizing its

          5  importance to the City's development efforts, it is

          6  essential to preserve the Program, allocate

          7  additional funding for local administration, and

          8  make it more efficient.

          9                      Thank you for the opportunity to

         10  testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you for

         12  your testimony, good to see you again.  You have

         13  been very useful to my district, out in the

         14  Rockaways.  We want to continue that, and as it gets

         15  warmer, I hope to see you out there more.

         16                 Someone is really trying to ensure

         17  that we have a short hearing today, or at least we

         18  will have to put some hot air into the room.

         19                 With that in mind, I have heard some

         20  very alarming, not so much alarming, I will use a

         21  different word, some cause for concern on this

         22  Program.  Causes for concern that I heard everyone

         23  say that there is a need for the type of program,

         24  that it needs to be tightened, but I have also heard

         25  something that my colleagues have been bantering
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          2  around for a little bit, that the City needs to

          3  create a far more targeted program that, the States

          4  program is very worthy, with modifications of

          5  course, but the City, perhaps, needs to look at

          6  areas and not find ourselves simply straight-

          7  jacketed, if you wish, by some of these things.

          8                 How, I heard you say it so I want

          9  your thinking on this, do you think that this is a

         10  wise move?

         11                 MS. ODURO:  As far as the City?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  We need to,

         13  imagine if the City wants to do something similar to

         14  an Empire Zone.  Is this taking away resources that

         15  could be poured into an Empire Zone?  Is this a good

         16  use?  Is there a need for what I am speaking about?

         17                 MS. ODURO:  On the City level, yes,

         18  definitely, because basically what I do is I market

         19  a number of the City, state, and federal incentive

         20  programs, and just qualifying for a lot of programs

         21  is not easy for a lot of manufacturing businesses

         22  here.  It is always one thing or the other, you can

         23  qualify for one thing, or you cannot qualify for the

         24  other.  You do not have enough employees to qualify

         25  for one program, you are too small.
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          2                 So, I think that if, and a lot of

          3  companies do complain, like there are not enough

          4  City incentives, there are not enough state

          5  incentives.  I think if the City has a more targeted

          6  effort to maintaining small businesses especially, I

          7  think that would be a worthy effort.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Did you want to

          9  flush that out any?

         10                 MS. DAMIANI:  No, I just would like

         11  to echo the focus on smaller and medium sized

         12  businesses.

         13                 I know that the City's IDA does have

         14  many programs that help do that.  I am not quite

         15  sure if it is done on a such a targeted basis or

         16  with a cityside policy- mind, to keeping a diverse

         17  economy in our City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Council member

         19  Recchia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  It just

         21  seems to me that some of the, there has to be some

         22  changes in this because we have businesses that move

         23  into Empire Zones, that is the whole purpose of it,

         24  is to help them out.

         25                 MS. DAMIANI:  Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  And, if a

          3  business is not in an Empire Zone, then I think once

          4  they move in, they should be able to get a lot of

          5  those benefits.

          6                 The printing company that did not get

          7  the QEZE, that is a problem for me.  What were the

          8  repercussions there?  What make them believe that

          9  they were going to get their full benefits?

         10                 MS. ODURO:  I think at the time the

         11  Zone administrator they were working with just did

         12  not have the time to properly educate them on what

         13  benefits they were getting, and I believe it was

         14  just being understaffed.  The company, they got the

         15  brochure, these are the benefits for going into the

         16  Zone, but they really did not get the fine line

         17  that, specific benefits are QEZE, and this is how

         18  you have to qualify in order to get that.  So, they

         19  were under the assumption that they would get all of

         20  these benefits, and then, once they got to the Zone,

         21  they were in.  They became certified, and they were

         22  told, "You are not getting this benefit".

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Let me ask

         24  you something. What would happen if they moved now

         25  to another Empire Zone?
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          2                 MS. ODURO:  They would qualify, I am

          3  under the impression that they would.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  You see,

          5  that is crazy because now they are going to be

          6  moving.  Okay, we will address that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Council member

          8  Gerson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  First of all,

         10  I want to thank both witnesses, and both of your

         11  organizations for your outstanding advocacy in

         12  economic development work, which has benefited my

         13  district, along with the rest of the City.

         14                 Let me just ask, Good Jobs New York,

         15  Ms. Damiani, I am glad you cited the fashion space

         16  proposal because, as you know, that is an

         17  outstanding proposal, which we enthusiastically

         18  support, and will be working with you to get the

         19  LMDC to fund that program. It really, Mr. Chairman,

         20  my colleagues, it is an important and fascinating

         21  proposal for many reasons, but one of which is it

         22  really puts into practice, as I understand it, the

         23  principles and policies of sector- based economic

         24  development, wherein, instead of simply just

         25  offering bribes, and there is a place for that I
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          2  recognize, for businesses to relocate or to remain

          3  in our City, or in areas where providing an

          4  infrastructure, in the form of this fashion space

          5  and through the incentive of that infrastructure, we

          6  are allowing the marketplace to determine which

          7  viable industries will relocate into this new

          8  infrastructure which the public provides.

          9                 So, may question to you is, does that

         10  approach present a model which we should somehow

         11  seek to incorporate into Empire Zones generally,

         12  should we as we look at the renewal of the Empire

         13  Zone Program, in your opinion, should we kind of add

         14  to the current incentives encouragement or provision

         15  for that type of infrastructure development within

         16  the Empire Zone parameters?

         17                 I mean, is there room to mesh the

         18  two, does that make any sense, from your experience?

         19                 MS. DAMIANI:  Sure, I agree the issue

         20  really is sector- based versus focusing on

         21  particular companies, which unfortunately has

         22  prevailed both through the 1990's and post September

         23  11th resources.

         24                 What we are hopeful for with the

         25  fashion space, and I cannot be, by any means, the
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          2  spokesperson for it, folks at NYIRN have been very

          3  involved in that as well.  But, as it relates to

          4  creating sectors for strong employment, not just in

          5  Chinatown but throughout the City, this is where we

          6  believe public resources really should be, on

          7  strengthening sectors that provide a wide swath of

          8  jobs for different folks.

          9                 The resources that have gone into

         10  Lower Manhattan, much of them have really done just

         11  to prop up the real estate industry in Lower

         12  Manhattan, to be quite frank.  And what the fashion

         13  space would do would be to integrate different types

         14  of jobs and job training into a community that was

         15  particularly hard hit, and that, of course, has an

         16  effect to strengthen the area, and as well as bring

         17  in new job opportunities to the community, that

         18  would then go to others areas.  Not just in Lower

         19  Manhattan but maybe to Sunset Park or into Flushing,

         20  or other areas where the garment industry in strong.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And, kind of

         22  related to that, on the one hand expanding the scope

         23  of the Empire Zones to encourage this type of

         24  infrastructure, on the other side of the coin, is

         25  there a need from either of your experiences to,
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          2  kind of, constrict the breath of applications so

          3  that certain types of businesses for which the

          4  benefits were not intended are not in a position to

          5  take an advantage, and the other example, you said

          6  it, I go back to where we were a year ago, when we

          7  were fashioning the Lower East Side/Chinatown Empire

          8  Zone, one of the concerns, Mr. Chair, was that

          9  certain types of small clubs or even larger clubs

         10  and bars would take advantage of some of the

         11  incentives to move into the area and create quality

         12  of life problems or liveability problems for the

         13  people who are in the area, and I remember in

         14  wrestling with the Zone, that issue came up and

         15  there was a concern, expressed at the time for our

         16  inability to, kind of, circumscribe or limit the

         17  types of businesses or industries which could take

         18  advantage.  In other words, we were very much

         19  fearful that by giving these incentives we would

         20  create, instead of the manufacturing and the

         21  technology and the other types of businesses, we

         22  were going to wind up creating a rowdy, late night

         23  bar strip, which would drive everyone crazy, and I

         24  am all for rowdy, late night bars, but at the right

         25  place where they do not drive people crazy but, so
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          2  the issue is, do we need to, as we again look at

          3  this program, do we need to kind of tweak the

          4  regulations to allow Zones to be targeted so that

          5  they do not give incentives where incentives were

          6  not intended?

          7                 MR. DAMIANI:  If I could just chime

          8  in.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I asked that

         10  to either of you.

         11                 MS. DAMIANI:  It was brought up

         12  before, the issues of Empire Zones Downstate versus

         13  Upstate.  The issues in Upstate are very different

         14  then they are in Lower Manhattan or anywhere in New

         15  York City, that you have a suburban office park,

         16  there is not a lot of economic activity in certain

         17  areas because it is a park, and that is considered

         18  economically distressed and it becomes an Empire

         19  Zone.  So, issues like that and how it effects

         20  foregone revenue in the City is very important, and

         21  the opportunity it costs, obviously, need to be

         22  taken into consideration.

         23                 So, the other issue is, Empire Zones

         24  and tightening of location in New York City is, is

         25  this the best place to put our resources into
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          2  certain areas of New York City, which is a very good

          3  question but also realize that the difference

          4  between Upstate and Downstate is, in New York City

          5  we have quite an amazing transportation system.  We

          6  have the ability to get people, for example, Council

          7  member James, in your district, to good job

          8  opportunities and other parts of the City.  So, I

          9  think what needs to be taken into consideration is,

         10  where already existing opportunities for good job

         11  training and good jobs and focus on that, and use

         12  that as an opportunity and the benchmark versus

         13  focusing on certain areas.

         14                 MS. ODURO:  I cannot answer that

         15  question right now, I would have to refer that to

         16  Adam Friedman and get back to you on that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, thank

         18  you, that is all for now but, again, these two

         19  areas, Mr. Chair, of encouraging industry sector-

         20  based development, and finding ways to allow local

         21  administrators to, I hate to use the word exclude,

         22  but I guess that is what we are talking about,

         23  exclude those types of establishments which would

         24  be, which would have a negative impact on the area,

         25  and for which the incentives are not intended are
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          2  areas which, I think, we would probably need to

          3  pursue as we go forward, and I thank the witnesses

          4  for their testimony.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well, put.

          6                 Council member James.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Good

          8  afternoon, ladies.            First let me ask you

          9  this question.  Are you working with Assemblymen

         10  Brodsky on any language to address a lot of your

         11  issues and concerns related to the Empire Zones?

         12                 MS. DAMIANI:  Frank Morrow (phonetic)

         13  who is the Executive Director of the Fiscal Policy

         14  Institute worked very closely with his office for

         15  the project.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And, just

         17  following the line of questioning that my colleague,

         18  Councilman Gerson had addressed with you.

         19                 Sector- based development, as opposed

         20  to because you threw out the word targeted and

         21  everyone has yet to define what the term targeted

         22  means, so sector- based development is something

         23  very intriguing to me, specifically in the area of

         24  industry, manufacturing, retail and social services

         25  focused on workforce development and job training.
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          2  I think that is something that we really need to

          3  look at and I have been speaking with the City

          4  Administration with regards to setting aside some

          5  funds for capacity building in this area, and

          6  specifically targeted at the areas where there is

          7  high rates of unemployment exceeding 50 percent,

          8  which would address my issue.

          9                 I also want to talk to you at a later

         10  point, not at this time, with regards to developing

         11  some legislation which provides accountability for

         12  individuals, businesses who receive subsidy.  A

         13  subsidy accountability act.  And, so, at some point

         14  in time I would like to sit down and talk with both

         15  of you with regards to developing some legislation

         16  in that area, and also to focus on ways that we can

         17  provide tax incentives and bonuses to individuals

         18  who create industrial and manufacturing

         19  opportunities. That, I think, would go along way,

         20  again, in addressing the high rate of unemployment

         21  in some public development complexes throughout the

         22  City of New York, and my last point is, I see that

         23  you are holding a breakfast regarding the Jacob

         24  Javits expansion, and you recognize that I too have

         25  an arena issue in my district.
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          2                 MS. DAMIANI:  Yes.  Yes, we do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And, so, I

          4  hope at one point in time, we can have a breakfast

          5  on the public financing of the arena that is

          6  proposed in my district.

          7                 That, too, involves public subsidies,

          8  and we need to have, again, an over- arching policy

          9  discussion on the use of public funds for private

         10  development.

         11                 MS. DAMIANI:  We look forward to

         12  doing that, as well, and working with you and trying

         13  to make the public financing of the Ratner proposal

         14  much more transparent.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I heard there

         17  was a major developer that would not mind sponsoring

         18  such a breakfast that you were speaking of Ms.

         19  James.

         20                 If there are no further questions for

         21  this panel, then I want to thank you both for coming

         22  out here and surviving this cold but putting some

         23  warm ideas on the table.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 MS. DAMIANI:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. ODURO:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  You will hear

          4  from our, the last person on this issue, I believe.

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Yes, we

          6  will hear from Anthony Serrete (phonetic) and

          7  Richard Imprescia.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Sir, thank you

          9  for being out here and thank you for surviving.

         10                 Would you be kind enough to identify

         11  yourself for the record, and you can begin your

         12  testimony.

         13                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Yes, thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.  My name is Richard Imprescia.  I am

         15  currently Government Affairs and Business Economic

         16  Development Executive Director for Anchin, Block and

         17  Anchin, which is a major accounting and consulting

         18  firm in the City of New York.

         19                 I am, formally, Deputy Director for

         20  the Empire Zones Program, where I served Governor

         21  Pataki for six years, overseeing the Empire Zones

         22  Program.

         23                 I am also an adjunct Professor of

         24  Urban Sociology and Economics at New School

         25  University, and City University.
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          2                 I am also a member of the Government

          3  Affairs Committee with the Westchester Government

          4  Association.

          5                 I am here today to clarify, as well

          6  as, pose some policy recommendations on the Empire

          7  Zone.  I am great believer that I would rather have

          8  clarity then agreement, and from hearing some of the

          9  testimony this morning, although well intentioned,

         10  many of it was just incorrect.

         11                 First of all, lapsing back into my

         12  days as a professor, I wanted to shed light that we

         13  are talking about policy versus politics when it

         14  comes to the Empire Zones Program.  This Program was

         15  originally formed as a policy program to benefit

         16  spacial location, companies that move or are located

         17  within these geographic locations.  Whether they are

         18  Empire Zones, Empowerment Zones, Zone Equivalent

         19  Areas, Liberty Zones, Flex Zones, End Zones, and the

         20  list goes on and on.  The purpose was to target

         21  these geographic locations.

         22                 One of the effects that the Empire

         23  Zones Program has had because of these illusive tax

         24  credits is that only 33 percent of the businesses

         25  located in Southwest Brooklyn Economic Development
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          2  Zone are even accessing, or taking advantage of the

          3  Program.  Seventy percent of the businesses located

          4  in just one of the Zones in the City of New York are

          5  not accessing the Program. Not because, to a great

          6  extent, that there is lack of marketing. Not

          7  because, to a great extent, that there is lack of

          8  understanding, but because the tax credit

          9  calculations are so illusive, and so complicated,

         10  that businesses cannot access the programs as

         11  readily as this Committee, or those who are

         12  testifying would like you to believe.  It is not

         13  that easy.

         14                 I want you, for a moment, to keep in

         15  mind the context of the policy we are talking about.

         16    We are talking about tax policy here.  We are

         17  talking about a city that has raised real property

         18  taxes in excess of 18 percent.  We are talking about

         19  a state that is the highest taxed state in the

         20  Union.  Businesses are leaving this state.  They are

         21  not going to tolerate more taxes, they are looking

         22  for tax relief.  Hopefully, a local program that the

         23  City of New York may devise or a county program or a

         24  state program can offer these businesses tax relief.

         25
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          2                 As an economic development professor,

          3  I urge you to reconsider that the purpose of

          4  economic development is not to create jobs.  The

          5  purpose of economic development is to create

          6  revenue.  It is to create revenue sources for the

          7  tax base so that the City or the municipality can

          8  afford its social integrity in the programs that it

          9  wishes to administer.

         10                 Incidental to economic development is

         11  job creation. Government does not create those jobs,

         12  businesses do.  And, they do that when tax relief is

         13  increased.  Businesses look at taxes as another form

         14  of a liability.

         15                 I am working with a major accounting

         16  firm, and I must admit, that my six years serving

         17  the Governor at the Empire State Development was one

         18  way of looking at these policies, and now that I am

         19  in the private sector working with businesses on a

         20  daily basis, with tax expertise, and I am also

         21  finishing my PhD. In public policy and urban

         22  planning, I am currently writing my dissertation, it

         23  is infinitely different then what has originally

         24  occurred and how this program was set out.

         25                 For example, if you have a company
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          2  with 1,000 employees, let us assume Company X in

          3  East Harlem Empire Zone, or let us assume it is on

          4  the West Side of New York, outside of the Empire

          5  Zone, has 1,000 employees, and Company X intends to

          6  move to New Jersey because New Jersey has offered

          7  that company rigorous economic development

          8  incentives to move, so, the state devises a plan,

          9  and keep in mind if this company has 1,000

         10  employees, we are looking at a statistical analysis

         11  that would indicate that, let's assume that, of

         12  these 1,000 employees, they are getting an average

         13  salary of $50,000 annually.  That $50,000 annually

         14  for 1,000 employees will translate to more than $25

         15  million in income tax revenue alone to the State of

         16  New York.

         17                 When you look at the big picture, and

         18  you look at other types of taxes like sales taxes,

         19  and the income tax, and other taxes that are

         20  absorbed into the price of gasoline, et cetera, you

         21  are looking at a combined total of roughly $150

         22  million, that a company of this size will generate

         23  in revenue as a result of those employees.

         24                 Now I ask the Council this question.

         25  If the State of New York comes up with a program
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          2  that says we will offer Company X $30 million in

          3  benefits, to stay in New York, the question is, what

          4  is the cost of keeping that 1,000 job producing

          5  company in New York?   Is the cost $30 million,

          6  which is the price of the revenue package?  Or, is

          7  the cost actually a benefit to the State of $120

          8  million?  You may ask, "Richard, how did you, Mr.

          9  Imprescia, how did you come to that $120 million"?

         10  It is the $150 million that the State would have

         11  lost had the company moved to New Jersey, less the

         12  $30 million package, equals a cost benefit ratio of

         13  $120 million.  So, depending on what side you sit,

         14  and depending on the interest of the program, you

         15  will come up with a different idea.

         16                 Now, some of the misinformation, and

         17  loopholes that I wish to clarify.

         18                 First of all, the greatest loophole

         19  was the loopholes that the New York State

         20  Comptroller in his assessment of this Program

         21  proceeded with many loopholes.  Number one, in 2001,

         22  the New York State Legislature, in August 2001,

         23  passed a clean up bill, it was a clean up

         24  legislation, it cleaned up many of the loopholes

         25  that had been created originally because when the
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          2  Program was expanded in 2001, or 2000 rather, no one

          3  knew the extent to how this Program would work on

          4  the level of business activity.  In 2001 clean up

          5  legislation proposed that, yes, as it relates to the

          6  Real Property Tax Credit, for example, you had a

          7  developer who had shall go nameless, and I worked

          8  for both Empire State Development in the City of New

          9  York, and I was the Regional Director at the Mid

         10  Hudson Regional Office, so I worked Upstate and I

         11  worked inner- City for economic development.  There

         12  was a developer, who shall go nameless, who owned

         13  the Poughkeepsie Economic Development Zone. Almost

         14  the entire Zone was the IBM plant.  That plant was

         15  vacant, it was like, you would look there and see

         16  tumbleweed, it was that vacant, this once vibrant

         17  producing community.  So, the developer finds out

         18  from the loophole in the Real Property Tax Credit,

         19  that if he goes from zero to one employee, he

         20  creates a 100 percent increase.  He was paying

         21  millions of dollars in Real Property Taxes, so he

         22  hires one individual as maintenance employee, and he

         23  gets a refund of millions of dollars in tax relief,

         24  it hits the press, and wow, you know what hit the

         25  fan because now the press is saying, one jobs
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          2  creates millions of dollars in tax relief, that is

          3  grossly unfair to the taxpayer, and it was, indeed.

          4                 So, the New York State Legislature

          5  passes a clean up bill, in August of 2001, that

          6  limits the benefit to either ten percent of the

          7  federal basis or ten percent of qualified use, or

          8  $10,000 per employee.  Whatever is greater.  So, in

          9  that situation, this individual would only have been

         10  eligible for a $10,000 credit as opposed to

         11  millions, or, ten percent of the federal basis.

         12  Now, federal basis is the combination of value of

         13  land and value of building, so, if this developer

         14  invested $25 million, let's say, in redevelopment

         15  and built up the property so that it could be

         16  resalable, he would be limited to ten percent of the

         17  $25 million, or $2.5 million in tax credits,

         18  whatever is greater, so, what we are talking about

         19  is not a link to job creation alone.  We are talking

         20  about a link to job creation.  We are talking about

         21  to a link to building communities by renovation of

         22  properties.

         23                 What the New York State Legislature

         24  has proposed in a draconian measure, under the

         25  Assembly, and this is where politics mixes with
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          2  policy, the Assembly has proposed a calculation to

          3  limit that one employee to a percentage of under a

          4  100 percent guideline, meaning that if you go from

          5  zero to one, you get a one percent of your Real

          6  Property Taxes paid.  If you hire ten employees, it

          7  is 10 percent of your Real Property Taxes paid.

          8                 The employment of businesses at

          9  Empire Zones, in the City of New York, how many of

         10  businesses do you have in the ten Empire Zones that

         11  are in excess of 100 employees?  It is minuscule, it

         12  is a drop in the ocean.  If you enact legislation

         13  like that on a statewide level, you will write out

         14  even more businesses who are not taking advantage of

         15  this Program.

         16                 Now, I will make some policy

         17  recommendations as follows:  The Program has always

         18  been one of structure over substance.  I met with a

         19  company in Mt. Vernon, New York, just three weeks

         20  ago, a business owner.  He did everything he thought

         21  he needed to do to get, he got certified, he was

         22  located in the Zone, he was completely unaware that

         23  you needed to be aggressive in pursuing these tax

         24  credits because you do not get tax credits merely by

         25  being certified.  You must do something.  The
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          2  employer increased his employment, he made

          3  investments, and he was completely ineligible for

          4  any of the tax benefits because of the way he

          5  structured his company.  Whether it was "S"

          6  corporations, or "C" corporations, or "LLC's", who

          7  held the property, was the property spun out in a

          8  separate entity.  Was the real estate property held

          9  in a "C" corporation, and trapped in the operating

         10  company?

         11                 This all makes a huge difference as

         12  to whether companies can even gain access to the

         13  benefits, or maximize them. So, one of the things I

         14  propose is not a retention of the Program, but an

         15  expansion of the Program to fulfill the policy

         16  intent.

         17                 If you are located in an Empire Zone,

         18  no matter how many you employee, you get full

         19  benefits, period, no more calculations, no more how

         20  many jobs did you create, what is the percentage of

         21  your base revenue, what is the percentage of your

         22  federal tax, irrelevant.  If you are located within

         23  an Empire Zone, you get full Wage Tax Credits,

         24  Investment Tax Credits, if you are a manufacturer.

         25  You will get sales tax exemptions, Real Property Tax
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          2  Credits, and an Income Tax Credit.

          3                 What are we talking about?  Two

          4  square miles, twenty miles in the City of New York,

          5  and in the State of New York, with 72 Empire Zones,

          6  what am I speaking of?  One hundred and forty- four

          7  miles of the state?  We are acting as if we are

          8  turning all, as it was purposed, foregone revenues

          9  are being turned over.  The State needs to have an

         10  economic development program, as well as an urban

         11  development program, so that, companies remain in

         12  the State of New York.  They no longer have to

         13  remain in the City of New York with the advent of

         14  technology, as the attacks on the World Trade Center

         15  proved to this Administration, and the prior

         16  Administration, that businesses can move to

         17  Connecticut, that businesses can move to Florida, or

         18  Pennsylvania, or no Income Tax states like Florida

         19  or Vermont, and they can still do their business.

         20  The no longer need a presence in the City of New

         21  York to do their business.

         22                 What we need is an attraction

         23  program, a retention program, and an expansion

         24  program that means something to the businesses that

         25  are creating revenue for the City of New York, and
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          2  that are creating economic development opportunities

          3  so that jobs can be created as an amendment or as an

          4  addendum to their economic development activity.

          5                 So, my esteemed members of this Body,

          6  I wish to recommend an expansion of the Program to

          7  include all businesses in the Empire Zone regardless

          8  of their activities.

          9                 Number two, I wish to offer what was

         10  offered by the New York State Economic Development

         11  Council, which is to make the Zone Equivalent Area

         12  and the Empire Zone permanent programs, not programs

         13  that will sunset.

         14                 New York City is sitting on a gold

         15  mine with Zone Equivalent Areas, and it has not been

         16  fully maximized.  The Program is set to end this

         17  year because of the ten year extension based upon

         18  the 1990 census- track data.

         19                 I heard from the esteemed Chairman

         20  that you had an issue where areas that were, in the

         21  past, areas that were blighted communities, in

         22  economic distress, and are currently thriving,

         23  should no longer get the benefits.  That is already

         24  taken care of because if you extend the Zone

         25  Equivalent Area with another 10- year program or
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          2  make it permanent, you will now move the census-

          3  track data information, instead of 1990, up to 2000.

          4    So, you will use the census- track of 2000, which

          5  will alter those companies in those areas which are

          6  eligible to maximize the benefits, and obviously,

          7  between 1990 to 2000, all you have to do is look at

          8  Battery Park City and notice the difference in what

          9  has happened with the World Financial Center, which

         10  did not even exist in 1990, and other areas of the

         11  state.

         12                 So, again, my policy recommendation

         13  is to make the programs permanent, as has been

         14  recommended.  The New York State Assembly has

         15  weighed in with their proposals for the Program.

         16  The Governor's Office has also weighed in with

         17  program proposals.

         18                 One is to make the Zone Equivalent

         19  Area, in particular, the Assembly proposed a hard-

         20  landing to the Program, meaning once companies get

         21  certified, they only get the one year portion of the

         22  benefit.  The Governor has proposed, although a

         23  termination to the Program, a soft landing.  As long

         24  as companies are certified prior to June 30th, those

         25  companies will get the full five- year benefit of
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          2  the Wage Tax Credit, although, no new applications

          3  will be taken.

          4                 I have met with state Senator Guy

          5  Velella.  I met with state Senator Vincent Leibel.

          6  I met with state Senator Olga Mendez.  I have

          7  counseled over Mendez who was speaking with Senator

          8  Bruno to make further proposals to the Zone.

          9                 You have an Empire Zone in the City

         10  of New York called East Harlem, which prior to their

         11  boundary revision in December of 2003, was no more

         12  than, maybe, half a mile.  With their boundary

         13  revisions, they expanded the Zone to almost one and

         14  a half to two miles.  What the handicap for the

         15  Empire Zone of East Harlem is that they have three

         16  months to do what other Empire Zones have done over

         17  the last three years because the Program is due to

         18  either sunset, which is unlikely to happen in my

         19  expert assessment, however, there will be horse-

         20  trading in the eleventh hour of the legislature, and

         21  we do not know for sure how this will pan out. But,

         22  keep one thing in mind for certain.  That it will

         23  affect businesses throughout the state who exist

         24  within the Empire Zone, and many of those businesses

         25  will leave.
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          2                 Another issue that came up before

          3  this Body was Chinatown.  I am telling you that

          4  Chinatown already has an existing Zone Equivalent

          5  Area census- track that is underutilized.  That

          6  program is due to expire unless, of course, the City

          7  Council urges the State Legislature to not only

          8  allow for a soft landing but to make that Program,

          9  if not permanent, to make it at least another ten-

         10  year program, so that the City of New York can flex

         11  its muscle in this economic development arena.

         12                 The third is for the City of New York

         13  to participate in the Sales Tax Exemption, and

         14  reinvest those sales tax revenues in the Empire

         15  Zone, as it is done in the state of New Jersey.  In

         16  the state of New Jersey, there is a sales tax

         17  benefit that is reinvested and kept in a fiduciary

         18  fund that goes strictly to the economic zones that

         19  the state of New Jersey has targeted.  We do not

         20  need to reinvent the wheel.

         21                 Look at the state of Michigan, the

         22  state of New Jersey, the Keystone Opportunity Zones

         23  in the state of Pennsylvania, and how they have been

         24  working these programs.  They are not expiring their

         25  Zone Programs.  They are not killing their Zone
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          2  Programs.  They are expanding them.

          3                 And, finally, an excellent idea to

          4  invigorate a local program because no one knows the

          5  local economic development scene for the City of New

          6  York better than the local City Council, and the

          7  absolute excellent work of the local development

          8  corporations that administer these programs

          9  throughout the City, who's hands are tied.

         10                 I urge you to look at, with scrutiny

         11  and caution, the difference between policy matters

         12  and the difference between political matters in your

         13  consideration of expansion and retention of these

         14  economic development incentive programs.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well put,

         17  Professor.  You have earned that cup of water that

         18  you have just swallowed.

         19                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  I am going to

         21  take advantage of your wealth of knowledge on this,

         22  by inviting you at another moment in a warmer place,

         23  why don't we sit and speak of these things?

         24                 Would you be kind enough to, at

         25  another moment, share that written testimony with
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          2  the Committee?

          3                 I am sure that there are many who may

          4  benefit from the information that you put out there.

          5                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  You did not

          7  become this enlightened after you left the

          8  government, did you?

          9                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  I only got, like a

         10  bottle of wine, Your Honor, I just got better.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Then you will

         13  go far in this business, I wonder which side of this

         14  table.  I, of course, would have a slight difference

         15  with you, not even so much as a difference, a

         16  consideration that I would want.

         17                 The purpose of economic policy, of

         18  course, has to be to stimulate revenues but I would

         19  argue that growth has to be in there, you put it as

         20  an amendment.  I would put it as an addition but you

         21  know what, this will give us more reasons to speak

         22  as we will continue this discussion.

         23                 So, I look forward to sitting down

         24  with you at another moment, fairly soon, to continue

         25  this conversation.
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          2                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  And, I will

          4  turn it to my Co-Chair.

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, I have

          6  a question. You mentioned, when I was asking

          7  questions about moving once you are in the Empire

          8  Zone and you get certified, and moving out to

          9  another Empire Zone.

         10                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Right.  This is under

         11  New York State Law that a company located outside an

         12  Empire Zone, that moves into the Empire Zone, under

         13  New York State Tax Law, is eligible for the Wage Tax

         14  Credits but because, and the Investment Tax Credits

         15  if they are a company in production, but ineligible

         16  for the QEZE or enhanced benefits.  Because, what

         17  they have done is shifted employment from a non-

         18  Zone into the Zone.  The purpose being that they do

         19  not raid Zones because the Program was originally

         20  intended to be a job attraction, but because of the

         21  confiscatory tax policies in the state of New York,

         22  you no longer need a attraction program, my

         23  goodness, we need a retention program because

         24  businesses are moving out and they are moving to

         25  Pennsylvania and other states.
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          2                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  So, what

          3  happens if a company moves in and stays there for a

          4  long period of time, don't you think that they

          5  should then get the QEZE Benefit?

          6                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  If a company moves

          7  from outside the state, or creates a new company

          8  within a Zone, as a start- up, I mean, they would be

          9  eligible for all benefits.

         10                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I know, but

         11  I am talking about the company that is outside the

         12  Zone, then moves into the Zone and stays there for a

         13  period of time.

         14                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Only be eligible for

         15  Wage Tax Credits.

         16                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I

         17  understand that, but don't you think they should be

         18  eligible for the QEZE?

         19                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Absolutely, under my

         20  first proposal Councilman, under my first proposal

         21  was to expand the Program that as long as you move

         22  into a Zone and are operating business in a Zone,

         23  you are eligible for credits regardless of any

         24  calculations.

         25                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I agree
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          2  with that because the purpose is to attract

          3  companies to those areas.

          4                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Right.

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Okay, thank

          6  you.

          7                 Yvette Clarke.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 It is good to see you Richard.

         11                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  And, it is

         13  good to see that you still have the enthusiasm.  You

         14  are certainly well known throughout the economic

         15  development world as a guru and now you have the,

         16  even more so, the balance of having been in

         17  government and being on the outside, and your

         18  recommendations, I have to say, are certainly

         19  enlightening, and I think that there is definitely a

         20  need for continued discussion about the revenue

         21  generating piece of the equation.  I think that is

         22  something that many in the state overlook because of

         23  the real pressure to create jobs, and that pressure

         24  has been on for many decades now but it seems to

         25  increase with the decline of the economy, the 9/11
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          2  events, and things of that nature.

          3                 I think pressing home the whole idea

          4  of creating a revenue generating vehicle which does

          5  include tax relief, I agree wholeheartedly, is

          6  important.

          7                 I am really interested in hearing a

          8  little bit more about the sales tax benefit

          9  reinvestment piece you were talking about.

         10                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Can you give

         12  us a little bit more on that, particularly in urban

         13  areas?

         14                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Sure, there is two

         15  sales tax credits.  One in particular, more utilized

         16  by companies in Empire Zones as a Sales Tax

         17  Exemption which exempts qualified businesses from

         18  the state portion, four and a quarter to four and a

         19  half percent, of the sales tax.  Now, they must

         20  qualify.  They must have a job increase over some

         21  base period that was a five- year period. If the

         22  company qualifies, they get a certificate eligible

         23  for only one year because they must renew it

         24  annually.  If any one year they drop below this base

         25  period, they are out of the Program for that
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          2  particular year in accessing these Sales Tax

          3  Exemptions.  So, again, there are many checks and

          4  balances in the Program.

          5                 I must add, Council Member Clarke,

          6  that I neglected to earlier, that the comptroller,

          7  Mr. Hevesi's assessment of this Program, was an

          8  assessment on company activities prior to the clean

          9  up legislation of 2001.  It was grossly misinformed.

         10    It was politics over policy.  Those companies no

         11  longer can do, as I gave you what that company did

         12  in Poughkeepsie with the IBM plant.  It is no longer

         13  possible.

         14                 The Sales Tax Exemption, the City of

         15  New York, as any locality, has the opportunity on an

         16  annual basis, with a vote of the Council, to opt in

         17  to that sales tax exemption.

         18                 The City of New York has chosen, up

         19  until now, to opt out, so, any business within only

         20  these ten miles, we are talking about ten miles of

         21  the City of New York, and of those ten miles, we are

         22  talking about, roughly, 35 percent of the businesses

         23  even located within those ten miles because no Zone

         24  is running more than 50 percent certification rates.

         25    It just does not happen.  The City of New York
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          2  could opt in with a vote, and therefore, rather then

          3  a business who's creating jobs, getting a benefit of

          4  four and a half percent Sales Tax Exemption, on an

          5  annual basis, it is recalculated every year for up

          6  to ten years, they would get an eight and a quarter

          7  percent, is it eight and a quarter percent now or,

          8  eight and a half percent in the City of New York,

          9  so, the City can opt in.

         10                 Now, only two municipalities have

         11  opted in, I believe Buffalo has opted in and, I

         12  believe, Oneida, I am not sure, Upstate have opted

         13  in.  So, total tax benefit of six percent, only to

         14  those businesses that have increased jobs.  Only to

         15  those businesses that are buying and consuming goods

         16  in Empire Zones, so, it is a very small area of the

         17  state, and a very small area of that municipality.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  And the

         19  reinvestment end of it, that is the piece, who

         20  captures the funding?  Because we have a problem

         21  with getting our money back once it goes to the

         22  State, so I am a bit concerned about that piece.

         23                 Can you, what does that mean,

         24  essentially, in terms of reinvestment?

         25                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  And, with all due
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          2  respect Your Honor, I wish to correct you.  It is

          3  not your money that is going to the State, it is the

          4  tax payers money that is going to the State.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  When I said

          6   "our", I consider myself a taxpayer too.

          7                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Oh, okay, it was

          8  spoken as a taxpayer, good.

          9                 The reinvestment, how it is set up,

         10  the reinvestment is such that, and I will give you

         11  the broad answer.

         12                 In some way to track the revenue that

         13  is in this Empire Zone, this geographic location, as

         14  attributable to sales tax, and those funds, those

         15  revenues are separated from the general revenue

         16  funds that the City retains in sales tax, and those

         17  funds are reinvested and then utilized to the extent

         18  that was brought up by Leah Archibald or Josh

         19  Keller, to reinvest possibly in the additional

         20  finance of the local development corporations.  Or,

         21  it would be up to this Body as to how those revenues

         22  could be allocated.

         23                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Councilman

         24  Gerson, did you speak?

         25                 Councilman Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I join my

          3  colleagues in thanking you for your very informative

          4  and enlightening testimony. Just if I may ask, when

          5  did you leave your position with the Administration

          6  of the State Empire Zone?

          7                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  I was appointed by

          8  Governor Pataki to Empire State Development in March

          9  of 1998, and I resigned my position in May of 1993,

         10  no, oh sorry.

         11                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Professor,

         12  is this a test?

         13                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Senior moment, I

         14  wanted to see if you were all paying attention.

         15                 I will say that again, as Mario Cuomo

         16  used to say. I was appointed in 1998, and I resigned

         17  my position in 2003.

         18                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Oh, okay.

         19                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Thank you.

         20                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you

         21  very much, it is good to have our staff.

         22                 Were you involved at all in the

         23  evaluation of the Chinatown Zone application?

         24                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  I was involved,

         25  mostly, at the time we had a number of program
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          2  associates, I was one who oversaw, probably, eight

          3  to nine Zones.  My duties were assigned on the

          4  expansion of a number of applicant counties, and

          5  applicant municipalities Upstate.  I did not have

          6  oversight of any in the City of New York.  The

          7  Chinatown Location --

          8                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  And when I

          9  say Chinatown, I need to correct myself, I mean,

         10  Chinatown/Lower East Side, but it was the same.

         11                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Right.

         12                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Go ahead.

         13                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  There was actually,

         14  and I will bring this up as a consideration, the

         15  consideration is whether an Empire Zone would even

         16  be of benefit to the Chinatown community because it

         17  is a program that is based on, again, investment and

         18  wage taxes, and most of the businesses on the Lower

         19  East Side and Chinatown, are Mom and Pop businesses,

         20  they are very small.

         21                 The only benefits they would really

         22  be able to capture because most do not own their

         23  property, except for the developers, would be Wage

         24  Tax Credits and possibly the Sales Tax Exemption, if

         25  they qualify because they have increased employment.Many
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          2  of the businesses in these communities, as

          3  Chinatown, do not, so it would almost saddle these

          4  communities with a program that would give them hope

          5  but, yet, be totally ineffective, and it may be

          6  better for this Council to consider, or this

          7  Committee to consider, a program that would better

          8  suit and better target that community because of its

          9  unique economic distress.

         10                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, okay,

         11  and certainly that is, we are always looking for the

         12  best possible programs for each of our communities

         13  but we also, as a Council and as a City, need to

         14  deal with the hand dealt to us to, at the time we

         15  receive that hand, I guess, you cited that while not

         16  all the benefits would apply to the Chinatown Zone,

         17  the Wage Tax Credit and, you mentioned one other,

         18  the Sales Tax Exemption, could be of some benefit,

         19  and when you are hurting as much as you are, if we

         20  control expectations, some benefit is better than no

         21  benefit.

         22                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Ironically, Your

         23  Honor, those testimonies before me, that almost

         24  painted an illusion that credits are just flowing, a

         25  Niagara of credits are flowing to companies for
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          2  doing nothing is going to be the essential problem

          3  that Chinatown and the Lower East Side will face, in

          4  that, even though they get these Wage Tax Credits

          5  and Sales Tax Credits available to retail

          6  businesses, unless they are increasing employment,

          7  they will be ineligible  And, if they go from two to

          8  three employees because they are a small business,

          9  the maximum credit they can get on a Wage Tax is

         10  $1,500 for five years.

         11                 It is very small, and the Sales Tax

         12  Exemption for a Mom and Pop business, how much will

         13  they buy?  Will the be buying computers?  Will the

         14  be buying new telephone systems?  Are they paying

         15  high utility rates?  They probably are not because

         16  they are mostly, retail small shops, and therefore,

         17  the benefit in Sales Tax Exemption also will not be

         18  significant.

         19                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Of course,

         20  under your proposal, they would be eligible whether

         21  or not they increased employees.

         22                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Under my original

         23  proposal to expand the Program, as long as you exist

         24  in that Zone, exactly correct.

         25                 You have three employees, you will
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          2  get $1,500 times three.  Or, if you wish to redefine

          3  the legislation, as they did with the Liberty Zone,

          4  companies in the Liberty Zone do not get, it is a

          5  $1,500 to $3,000 Wage Tax Credit whether it is non-

          6  targeted or targeted.  However, under the Liberty

          7  Zone auspices, for companies that have been affected

          8  by the attacks on the World Trade Center, it is an

          9  automatic $3,000 per employee minimal, as long as

         10  those as those employees are New York State

         11  residents, and they same could be done for Chinatown

         12  and the Lower East Side because it does fall south

         13  of Canal Street, that those companies would get a

         14  $3,000 benefit, which would be the targeted benefit.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Professor, on

         16  this I could not agree with you more, one of our

         17  earliest and then frustrating approaches was our

         18  efforts to expand the Liberty Zone, precisely to

         19  encompass the boundaries of the areas which you have

         20  identified which have suffered, and it is

         21  frustrating because we were able to tweak it but not

         22  all encompass in the Empire Zone, again, given the

         23  hand dealt to us was kind of, and after the fact, if

         24  we could not get the Liberty Zone, let's at least

         25  try an get this because it might have helped and it
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          2  might still help somewhat, perhaps, with

          3  modification.  But, I certainly agree with you on

          4  the benefits of expanding the Liberty Zone, or the

          5  equivalent.

          6                 I would just point out, in terms of

          7  the employment differentials, that there was

          8  immediately after 9/11, in many establishments, a

          9  reduction in employment in the immediate aftermath,

         10  and there remains, and therefore, there may be some

         11  unique benefit for this time period that is not

         12  normally the case in the Chinatown community for the

         13  reasons you cited but to a program that still draws

         14  on increases or incentive, provides incentives for

         15  increases in employment given the unique situation,

         16  or unusual situation we have faced.

         17                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Absolutely, and I am

         18  glad you brought that point up about how business,

         19  there was an enormous downturn in employment after

         20  the attacks on the World Trade Center, which was

         21  another factor that was not figured in to the

         22  calculations that the State Comptroller did when he

         23  did this assessment of Empire Zone job creation,

         24  prior to the clean up legislation, he did not factor

         25  in the downturn in jobs that was completely, who
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          2  could have predicted such a catastrophic event. And,

          3  it was not considered as even a footnote in the

          4  subsequent reviews that came out.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, I am

          6  looking at the clock, and I know we are pressed, and

          7  I see my Chair nodding, so, I certainly want to join

          8  in the ongoing discussions.  If I may, though, just

          9  one follow up.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  A brief one,

         11  Sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  A brief one,

         13  yes.

         14                 The one area you in your

         15  recommendations did not directly address was an area

         16  I raised earlier, and that is the criteria for

         17  drawing the boundary lines for these Zones.  You

         18  pointed out their geographic limitations are from

         19  your analysis, are you satisfied with the criteria

         20  as they currently exist or any particular areas or

         21  recommendations for changes?

         22                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  I am dissatisfied,

         23  currently, because of lack of flexibility.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I thought you

         25  would say that.
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          2                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Well, there is lack

          3  of flexibility. You have two criteria to apply for

          4  an Empire Zone.  It is either based on census-

          5  track, or, county.  You either have a census- track

          6  zone or a county- wide zone.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So, what

          8  would you recommend to replace that?

          9                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Well, the City of New

         10  York is limited because you have only census- track

         11  zones, which means that if a major project is in any

         12  area, such as the development of a Bloomingdale's on

         13  Canal Street, it was impossible to offer

         14  Bloomingdale's any incentives because you could not

         15  footprint that building as you could do with a

         16  county zone.

         17                 Now, the State Senate has proposed,

         18  there are eleven counties in the state of New York

         19  that do not even have a zone, and they are land-

         20  locked.  They are competing with counties, such as

         21  Nassau County, or Rockland County, there are no

         22  Empire Zones in these counties.  Yet, in Suffolk

         23  County there sure are, and Dutchess County, et

         24  cetera, so, they are not only competing with other

         25  states, they are competing with other counties.
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          2                 What the legislature has proposed on

          3  the Senate side, is to give these eleven counties

          4  automatic county- wide zones, which means they can

          5  place those zones anywhere in the county, even if it

          6  is in a Downtown area, and to give those areas, like

          7  the City of New York, that have census- track zones,

          8  to give them an opportunity to apply for, in the

          9  City of New York's case, five county zones for each

         10  of the five counties.

         11                 That would be a further expansion of

         12  these geographic locations to a maximum of two

         13  square miles.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, I look

         15  forward to continuing the conversation, and I would

         16  note that we are having the ribbon cutting for the

         17  Bloomingdale's, which the witness mentioned,

         18  tomorrow morning in spite of the difficulties

         19  mentioned but I thank you, I thank you all very

         20  much.

         21                 MR. IMPRESCIA:  Thank you, and I

         22  thank the esteemed Committee.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Thank you very

         24  much, Sir.

         25                 I look forward to continuing the
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          2  dialog.

          3                 Notice that clock, it says 1 o'clock.

          4    We are going to leave this room at 1 o'clock, my

          5  friends, I have something to do here.

          6                 By 1 o'clock, if you give me a

          7  moment, we will be out of here.  And, this is being

          8  done especially since it is freezing and you have

          9  served your time.

         10                 This Committee has, let's turn to

         11  another issue, a whole different issue of Zone

         12  Equivalent Areas.

         13                 This Committee has recently received

         14  13 applications requesting a resolution from the

         15  City, so that they may move forward with their

         16  applications to the State for ZEA Benefits.

         17                 Zone Equivalent Areas, or ZEAs, are

         18  census- tracks in New York State that have poverty

         19  and unemployment demographics that are equivalent to

         20  those found in Empire Zones.

         21                 As the Department of Economic

         22  Development explains it, a resolution is required

         23  out of concern for the economic impact that could

         24  derive from the relocation or shift of a significant

         25  business from one area to another within a
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          2  municipality.

          3                 Members of the Committee should each

          4  have a copy of the request received by the Council.

          5                 Staff has done due diligence on these

          6  applications, however, there may be remaining

          7  questions regarding several of the companies.

          8                 We will not take testimony on these

          9  applications today, instead, applicants will have

         10  the opportunity to answer outstanding questions

         11  prior to a vote scheduled in the near future.

         12                 Are there any questions from the

         13  Committee members?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yes, and I

         15  would just like to put this on the table between now

         16  and the time we do vote.

         17                 Two questions, and I know this is

         18  come up in the past but in skimming through this I

         19  have noticed that many of the applications are for

         20  relocations from one address to another that are in

         21  relative proximity to each other, that do not strike

         22  me as having any differential, again, without

         23  analysis on the basis of the address, but they do

         24  not seem to be movement from or to areas of economic

         25  need or distress.  And, so, I mean, just for
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          2  example, from East 59th Street, one application from

          3  110 East 59th Street to 415 Madison Avenue, that

          4  seems like a move in the course of normal business

          5  calculations for whatever, better office space or

          6  work space they are getting from one or rental

          7  agreements, but I do not quite understand from East

          8  59th Street to Madison Avenue why this receives, and

          9  I just happened to turn to this page at random, why

         10  this receives a ZEA Benefit, and if we are giving it

         11  here, I mean, why not any other place in the City or

         12  any other move?

         13                 So, I want to put that on the

         14  question here from 1140 Avenue of the Americas to

         15  West 40th Street, so that is one set of questions.

         16                 The other question, I do note one

         17  move is from Lower Manhattan to Midtown Manhattan,

         18  and while I certainly support the continued economic

         19  prosperity of Midtown Manhattan, it seems to me,

         20  here we have an business moving from an area that is

         21  distressed, certainly into an area that is less

         22  distressed, and they may have good reasons, I am

         23  seeing now its for unfavorable lease terms, but

         24  again, why, where do the benefits, the ZEA Benefits

         25  kick in, or why do they kick in if they are moving
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          2  from more distressed to less distressed, are we not

          3  encouraging folks to move out of Lower Manhattan in

          4  a way that is counterproductive, so, I am just

          5  putting these on the table for our, to be inquired

          6  about between now and the time of voting.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well put, Sir.

          8                 This indeed will be done and those

          9  who have an interest in the ZEAs have heard those

         10  questions, and others that will be put forward.

         11                 Of course, I am grateful that I heard

         12  the good Professor, and my Council, and they both

         13  remind me that the ZEA is based on 1990 census track

         14  information, so that may be part of the answer that

         15  we are looking for.  But, we will get a full answer

         16  in the near future.  And, notice that I kept my

         17  promise, my friends.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You always

         19  do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Well, I try.  I

         21  can now say this hearing is now adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing adjourned 1:03 p.m.)

         23
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